# "ENHANCED POLYPHENOL PRODUCTION IN MEDICINAL PLANTS USING TISSUE CULTURE"

#### A DISSERTATION

# SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

IN

# **BIOTECHNOLOGY**

Submitted by:

# SHRUTI GAUTAM

# 2K19/MSCBIO/12

Under the supervision of

DR. NAVNEETA BHARADVAJA



MAY, 2021

# DELHI TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY (Formerly Delhi College of Engineering) Bawana Road, Delhi-110042

# **CANDIDATE'S DECLARATION**

I, Shruti Gautam, 2K19/MSCBIO/12 hereby certify that the work which I presented in the Major Project entitled 'Enhanced polyphenol production in medicinal plants using tissue culture ' in fulfillment of the requirement for the award of the Degree of Masters of Science in Biotechnology and submitted to the Department of Biotechnology, Delhi Technological University, Delhi is an authentic record of my own, carried out during a period from 7-Jan-2021 to 28-May-2021, under the supervision of Dr. Navneeta Bharadvaja.

The matter presented in this thesis has not been submitted by me for the award of any other degree of this or any other University. The work has been communicated in Scopus indexed journal with the following details:

Title of this paper: Plant polyphenols: Emerging natural bioactive compounds in treatment of skin diseases Author names: Shruti Gautam, Navneeta Bharadvaja Name of Journal: Journal of Herbal Medicine, Elsevier Status of paper: Communicated Date of paper communication: 6/04/2021

Snemti

Shruti Gautam 2K19/MSCBIO/12

# DELHI TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY (Formerly Delhi College of Engineering) Bawana Road, Delhi-110042

# **CERTIFICATE**

I hereby certify that the Project dissertation titled "Enhanced polyphenol production in medicinal plants using tissue culture" which is submitted by Shruti Gautam, 2K19/MSCBIO/12, Department of Biotechnology, Delhi Technological University, Delhi in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the award of the degree of Master of Science, is a record for the project work carried out by the student under my supervision. To the best of my knowledge this work has not been submitted in part or full for any Degree or Diploma to this University or elsewhere.

Place: Delhi

Date: 2 June, 2021



Dr. Navneeta Bharadvaja (SUPERVISOR) Assistant professor Department of Biotechnology Delhi Technological University Prof. Pravir kumar

Head of Department Department of Biotechnology Delhi Technological University

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

It is my privilege to express my profound sense of gratitude and indebtedness to my mentor **Dr. Navneeta Bharadvaja**, Assistant Professor in the Department of Biotechnology, Delhi Technological University for her valuable guidance and consistent encouragement during the progress of the project work. The dissertation wouldn't be completed within a short period without her insightful suggestions and support.

I also take the opportunity to acknowledge the contribution of **Prof. Pravir kumar**, Head of Department of Biotechnology, Delhi Technological University for allowing us to use the department facilities and his full support and assistance during the development of project. I would also not like to miss the opportunity to acknowledge the contribution of all faculty members of the department for their cooperation and assistance during the development of project. I am highly thankful to Mr. Chhail Bihari and Mr. Jitendra Singh for their support.

I am equally grateful and wish to express my wholehearted thanks to respected lab seniors Mr. Sidharth Sharma, Ms. Harshita Singh and Mr. Lakhan Kumar for their kind support and help in the course of my research work. I would also wish to express my gratitude and affection to my family for their constant love and support. I would personally like to thank Anupam, Neha, Roopal, Gagan and all my friends for their boundless love and trust which motivated me to complete the project work in the given time.

Snemeti

Shruti Gautam

2K19/MSCBIO/12

## ABSTRACT

Medicinal plants are an indispensable source of phytochemicals. Polyphenols are one of the most prominent bioactive components produced by medicinal plants. Polyphenols are the plant's secondary metabolites which are secreted in response to any kind of abiotic or biotic stress. The stress can be due to harmful UV rays, pathogen attack, infection, temperature variation, nutrient deficiency or any kind of infection. These polyphenols are responsible for providing medicinal properties to plants. The polyphenols are great therapeutic agents for humans and are widely used for manufacture of herbal drugs. The polyphenols have found to be strong antioxidant properties and protects epidermal layer from various damages. Polyphenols when either supplied in diet or applied topically have found to be protective effects on skin. It is known to have antiinflammatory, anti-oxidant, anti- carcinogenesis, anti- melanogenesis property. For meeting such a high demand of polyphenols for therapeutic use, sustainable production of polyphenols is necessary as their extraction from natural sources leads to extinction of rare medicinal plant species. For this, the invitro plant tissue culture proves to be an efficient method of propagating rare medicinal plants and optimizing various environmental conditions for maximizing the production of polyphenols.

# CONTENTS

Candidate's Declaration	ii
Supervisor's certificate	iii
Acknowledgements	v
Abstract	vi
List of Figure	X
List of Tables	X
CHAPTER1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 General Introduction	1
1.2 Structural features of Polyphenols	3
1.3 Biosynthesis of Polyphenols	3
1.4 Organization of thesis	5
CHAPTER2: REVIEW OF LITERATURE	6
2.1 Polyphenols	6
2.2 Types of Polyphenols	6
2.3 Role of polyphenols in skin diseases	9
2.3.1 Photoprotective effects	9
2.3.2 Antioxidant	10
2.3.3 Antiaging	10
2.3.4 Anti- melanogenesis	10
2.3.5 Anti- inflammatory	10
2.4 Polyphenol rich plants for skin diseases	11
2.5 Plant tissue culture technique	18
2.5.1 Role of media composition in tissue culture	19
2.5.1.1 Inorganic nutrients	20

2.5.1.2 Vitamins	20
2.5.1.3 Carbon source	20
2.5.1.4 Growth regulators	21
2.5.1.5 Gelling agent	22
2.5.1.6 pH	23
2.6 Biotechnological approaches for secondary metabolite production	23
2.6.1 Micropropagation	23
2.6.2 Hairy root culture	23
2.6.3 Callus culture	24
2.7 Role of abiotic elicitors in polyphenol enhancement	25
2.7.1 Temperature	25
2.7.2 Salt Stress	26
2.7.3 Nutrient Stress	26
2.7.4 Carbon	27
2.7.5 Nitrogen	27
2.7.6 Light	27
2.8 Future prospects	29
CHAPTER3: METHODOLOGY	30
3.1 Process of culturing	30
3.1.1 Composition of MS media	30
3.1.2 Preparation of Stock solution	31
3.1.3 Preparation of MS media	31
3.1.4 Pouring of MS media	32
3.1.5 Plant material collection	32
3.1.6 Sterilization of explants	32

3.1.7 Inoculation of explants	33
3.1.8 Incubation of cultured plantlets	33
3.1.9 Subculturing of cultured plantlets	33
3.2 Extraction of Polyphenols	33
3.3 Determination of total phenolic and flavonoids content	34
CHAPTER4 : RESULT	36
4.1 Discussion	38
4.2 Conclusion	39
References	

# List of Figures

Figure 1 Broad classification of polyphenols	7
Figure 2 Kalanchoe pinnata cultured plantlets	37
Figure 3 Kalanchoe pinnata cultured plantlets after 40 days	37

# List of tables

Table 1 Plants with polypenolic content having skin protective effects	11
Table 2 Various elicitors for polyphenol enhancement	28

# ABBREVIATIONS

UV	Ultra violet radiations		
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species		
Mg	Magnesium		
IAA	Indole acetic acid		
EGCG	Epigallocatechin gallate		
FC reagent	Folin's Ciocalteau reagent		
HPLC	High Performance Liquid Chroatography		
MS media	Murashige and Skoog medium		

# **CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 General Introduction

The present project focuses on the enhanced polyphenol production in medicinal plants. The role of plant polyphenols in skin protecting effects has also been reviewed. Medicinal plants have ample source of bioactive phtochemicals. These phytochemicals are responsible for plant's medicinal property. Out of these phytochemicals, polyphenols are one of the prominent bioactive compounds found in medicinal plants. Polyphenols are plant's secondary metabolites produced due to different kind of stress condition. The stress can be of external or internal types. External stress is caused due to environmental conditions such as temperature, UV radiations, pathogen attack, any microbial infection etc. Polyphenols contains large number of family of naturally occurring metabolites. They can differ from each other in terms of their structure and properties. They are found in different plant part's ie. stem, leaves, bark, fruits, flower etc., due to the presence of these secondary metabolites there is some kind of color, taste, astringency and bitterness in them. These secondary metabolites are responsible for the plant's medicinal properties. Secondary metabolites protect the plants against harmful UV radiations, plant pathogen and protect them against infections due to microbes [1]. Polyphenols have anticarcinogenesis, antihyperpigmentive, antioxidative, antiaging, antibacterial and antiinflammatory properties. Various researches have proven that the polyphenols are very good antioxidants that are directly responsible for their neutralizing capacity of free radicals produced as a byproduct of various metabolic processes occurring in body. Grapes, teas, strawberries, artichoke, parsley all contains the highest amount of polyphenols. Many fruits such as apples, grapes and different kinds of berries has approximately 300mg of polyphenols per 100 g of fresh weight [2].

Due to wide medicinal benefits of polyphenols, these are being incorporated in therapeutic sector. They are widely used in industries for manufacture of herbal products, natural therapeutics, nutraceuticals, cosmetic sector etc. The growing trend of using plant based

cosmetics has made polyphenols a top ingredient for research purpose. Skin being the delicate organ of human body continuously gets influenced by the various external and internal factors. The major cause of skin damage has been attributed to the damage caused by harmful UV radiations. This creates oxidative stress to skin causing cutaneous damage. Oxidative stress may be responsible for causing cancer, premature aging, pigmentation, inflammation, redness etc. [3]. Although various chemically derived synthetic cosmetics are available but they pose skin problems and further deteroites the skin condition. This concern has led to the development of plant based products for treating skin problems. Several research findings prove that plant polyphenols have ability to correct various skin diseases. The research for skin care products need not necessarily confined only to improve skin condition but to prevent various skin disorders too.

Plants being the indispensable resource for health, nutrition, medicine, welfare of animals has provided raw material for synthesis of various medicinal products and health additives [4]. Plants are the chief source that provides the active compounds with various medicinal properties. They have never ending opportunities to treat human diseases. According to WHO more than 80% population all over the globe use plant products as a primary treatment for any disease. The contribution of the drugs extracted from medicinal plants is very high. More than 78% drugs belongs to antimicrobial types and anticancer types. The annual turnover of herbal medicines is very high. Due to their wide pharmacological benefits, they can have protective effects on maintaining good health. These bioactive compounds when used appropriately can inhibit several diseases.

These metabolites can be extracted from naturally existing plants but due to environmental and regional limitations the commercial production is highly affected. Conventional natural process of plant growth is time consuming and takes much time for the production of desired secondary metabolites. To overcome this problem, invitro plant tissue culture is an alternative method for production of medicinal plants in nutrient media and extracts the secondary metabolites for commercial use within short time span. Plant tissue culture ensures the bulk propagation of plant species without any seasonal constraints in optimized environmental condition [5]. Plant tissue culture ensures continuous supply of metabolites without any potential harm to the natural species. There are several factors which affects the production or synthesis of secondary

metabolites in plant tissue culture. These factors in turn can be termed as elicitors which are known to enhance the production of polyphenols. Plant tissue culture ensures multiplication of rapid disease free plants. The rare genotypes species can be biotechnologically enhanced through plant tissue culture. Plant tissue culture also prevents habitat destruction and loss of genetic diversity.

Plant tissue culture is an effective method in plant biotechnology to multiply genetically similar plant species in defined nutritive media in optimum controlled sterile environmental conditions. This technology proves to be advantageous than plant growth by conventional methods. The production of plants through plant tissue culture technique totally depends on the totipotency of a particular plant species. The production of plants in controlled environment in conventional methods is a cumbersome process which is easy task in plant tissue culture. The plant tissue culture technique is helpful for rapid clonal propagation, reducing the stress on natural flora by preserving their genetic stability and producing disease free plants.

## 1.2 Structural features of polyphenols

These are large macromolecules having a weight of approximately 800 Daltons. This allows them to reach intracellular sites of plant cell by rapidly diffusing through cell membranes. It has been found that the conversion of small polyphenols into larger non hydrolysable tannins generally remain undetected in plant matrix. The polyphenols are formed of repeating phenolic entities connected together by esters or C-C bond. These phenolic moieties are resorcinol, pyrocatechol, phloroglucinol and pyrogallol. The green tea polyphenol epicatechin and catechin are formed of monomeric unit proanthocyanidin [6].

#### 1.3 Biosynthesis of Polyphenols

Different types of phenolic acid such as cinnamic acid and gallic acid are the metabolites produced in shikhimic acid pathway. Primary metabolism in plant is responsible for biosynthesis

of complex flavonoids. Flavonoids are produced through mitochondrial and plastid derived intermediates. These intermediates are then exported into cytoplasm from there these get incorporated into different parts of molecule. There are total 3 ring structures in flavonoids in which ring B and chromane ring are formed from phenylalanine amino acid. This phenylalanine is itself a product of shikhimic acid pathway. The ring A originates from 3 units of malonyl-CoA added as a result of decarboxylation- condensation reaction, initiating flavonoids synthesis. In phenylpropanoid pathway the enzyme that performs the conversion of phenylalanine to cinnamic acid is Phenylalanine ammonia lyase. This forms C6-C3 structures. Enzyme chalcone synthase catalyzes the formation of first flavonoids naringenin after the condensation reaction of 3 molecules of malonyl-CoA and 4-coumaroyl-CoA. After that the isomerization of chalcone occurs to form flavanones by chalcone flavanone isomerase. This flavanone formed is an intermediate for the synthesis of all the different classes of flavonoids [7].

#### **1.4 ORGANIZATION OF THESIS**

The following thesis title as 'Enhanced polyphenol production in medicinal plants using tissue culture" is a reviewed information gathered from various research and review article. The thesis focuses on the enhancement of polyphenols through biotechnological approaches. The thesis also contains information on the effects of plant polyphenols in treating various skin diseases.

The chapter1 ie. Introduction of thesis briefs about the plant polyphenols, their structural features, their biosynthesis, their role in therapeutics, role of polyphenols in skin diseases and the brief about plant tissue culture,

The chapter 2 is a review of literature which contains a broad knowledge about the plant polyphenols and its types. It summarizes various plants and their polyphenols being useful for treating skin diseases. It also contains the invitro production of polyphenols through plant tissue culture techniques and the various types of abiotic elicitors that can be used in plant tissue culture for enhancement of polyphenols and future prospects.

The chapter 3 is a proposed methodology for the project and briefs about the extraction process, estimation techniques that can be used for detection of polyphenols.

The chapter 4 contains result, discussion and conclusion part.

# **CHAPTER 2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

# 2.1 Polyphenols

Polyphenols are produced in plants as secondary metabolites due to various kinds of stress. Many biotic and abiotic factors such as UV, temperature, infection, microbial attack etc. create stress condition in plants. These secondary metabolite imparts medicinal and healthy properties to plants. Polyphenols are the prominent bioactive compounds being used for commercial purposes due to their antioxidative, antitumorogenesis, antiviral, antimicrobial properties. Polyphenols can be found in different plant parts such as fruit, flowers, leaves, roots, stem, bark etc. Due to various metabolites the characteristic feature of colour, taste, aroma, astringency and bitterness is imparted to plant part. The two main function of polyphenols in plants are to assist in their physiological functions and other is to act as a defense system [8].

Secondary metabolites are derivative of primary metabolites like carbohydrates and amino acids, derived through various pathways like hydroxylation, methylation and glycosylation. The monomeric unit responsible for different kinds of polyphenols is phenol ring. There are about 10,000 different varieties of polyphenols, each containing one or more aromatic ring attached to hydroxyl group [9]. These different types of polyphenolic entities are derived either from phenylalanine or shikimic acid pathway.

## 2.2 Types of polyphenols

Polyphenols are classified on the basis of number of phenolic ring present and the attachment of structural element that bind to these rings. They are broadly classified as phenolic acids, flavonoids, stibenes, tannin, lignan and these classes are further subdivided. Flavonoids comprises of approximately half the number of polyphenols.



Flavonoids : Flavonoids are the largest group of secondary metabolites under polyphenols. Till now more than 5000 flavonoids have been isolated and identified. The flavonoids structure similarity is with chalcones, having chemical structure of 1,3-diphenylpropan-1- one [10]. Polyphenols belong to low – molecular weight phenolic compounds prominently found in plants. They are further classified into subclasses flavones, anthocyanin, chalcones, flavonols, flavonols, catechin and isoflavones [11].

They are most commonly used compounds in cosmetics for their antioxidant and soothing nature. The non- specific activity flavonoids exhibit are anti-oxidant, anti- inflammatory, absorption of UV, free radical neutralization, metal chelation, microbial growth inhibition etc. [11].

Phenolic acids: Phenolic acids are the most prominent available polyphenol in plant tissue comprises of hydroxycinnamic acids. The subtypes of hydroxycinnamic acids present in plants are ferulic acid, caffeic acid, coumaric acid, chlorogenic acid and sinapic acid. Among all these hydroxycinnamic acids, caffeic acid is most commonly widespread, majorly in coffee, olive, lettuce, potato, spinach, apples, wine, tobacco leaves. The other group of phenolic acids is hydroxybenzoic acids which comprises vanillic acid, syringic acid, p-hydroxybenzoic acid and gallic acid, ellagic acid, gentisic acid [12]. Hydroxycinnamic acids are present as simple esters with glucose or hydroxyl carboxylic acids whereas the hydroxybenzoic acids are mainly present as glucosides. Phenolic acids are potent antioxidants not only in terms of their ability to scavenge free radicals but also in strengthening the endogenous antioxidant defense system of body.

Stilbene : Another subclass of non-flavonoids compounds is stilbene. Stilbene comprises of resveratrol, piceatannol, isorhapontigenin, pterostilbene, rhapontigenin. Stilbenes contain two phenyl moieties which are linked by methylene bridge connecting two carbon molecule [13].Stilbene compounds are majorly found in species of grape wine, sorgum, peanut and other tree species like pine and picea. Stilbenes posses potent antimicrobial and antioxidant properties [14].

Tannins : Another subtype of non- flavonoid group is tannins, which is widely distributed in plants. Tannins are found to have astringent, bitter properties that are known to precipitate or shrink proteins. Tannins can be found in leaf, roots, stem, bud, seed tissue. Tannins are present in *Camellia sinensis*, nuts, wines etc. Tannins have anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial and anticarcinogenic properties [15]. Tannins are polyphenolic compounds containing sufficient hydroxyl and carboxyl groups which are known to form strong complexes with macromolecular entities and proteins. These have molecular weight ranging from 500 to 3000. Tannins are abundantly found in bark of trees acting as a barrier to protect them from attack of microorganisms. Condensed tannins are known as proanthocyanidins. Proanthocyanidins are widely distributed in red wine, pine bark and grape seeds [16]. Proanthocyanidins also functions as reducing agent in chelating metal ions and scavange free radicals. The condensed tannin present in apple is approximately ten times higher than that that of unripe apple. These proanthocyanidins posses variety of physiological functions and the most common one is their antioxidant properties.

Lignan: Lignans also constitute the non– flavonoid group of polyphenols which are diphenols containing 2,3- dibenzylbutane structure which is formed due to process of dimerization of two residue of cinnamic acid. They are precursor of phytoestrogens and are mainly produced as an antifeedants in seeds and plants against herbivores. These are found in various seeds, fruits, vegetables and the high lignan source are flax seeds and sesame seed. The major lignan possessing various medicinal properties are sesamin, artigenin, (-) secoisolariciresinol, (+) pinoresinol, enterolactone, (+)- lariciresinol etc. These are known to provide several bioactive properties like anti-estrogenic, anti- inflammatory, anti- carcinogenic and antioxidant [17].

Curcuminoids : In curcuminoids, two phenol rings are joined together by linear diarylheptanoid. The curcuminoids present in plants give them yellow colour. The curcuminoids due to its structure is less absorbable and has poor solubility. Among different curcuminoids, curcumin is the most prominent natural compound found in plants. It is used as a herbal supplements for treatment of various diseases [8].

#### 2.3 Role of polyphenols in skin diseases

Being high in pro- oxidants, these polyphenols have skin protective effects and it has been proved by various researches. Given below are the evidences which suggest that polyphenols have skin protecting effects.

## 2.3.1 Photo protective effects

Polyphenols acts as excellent photo protective agents. They do so by screening and absorbing harmful UV radiations. They have UV absorbing properties due to the different pigments present in them such as yellow, red and purple. It has been found that the topical use of specific polyphenols blocks harmful UV B rays to pass through the stratum cornuem. They have antioxidant, anti- inflammatory, free radical scavenging properties. Polyphenols of green tea such as EGCG, silymarin, anthocyanin can prevent inflammation, DNA damage etc. They are involved in blocking the signaling molecules associated with inflammatory pathways [18].

#### 2.3.2 Anti- oxidant

The natural anti- oxidant system of skin gets continuously affected and damaged from environmental stresses. The UV rays exposure leads to free radical generation leading to oxidative stress and cause damages leading to various skin disorders and formation of tumors. Polyphenols has been found to have very high oxidants level which upon topical application or oral use enhances the endogenous antioxidant defense system. They enhance suppression of lipid peroxidation, and decrease the level of NO and H2O2. Many studies have been found which states that polyphenols interact with the enzymes for modulating redox status of cell. The cell's ability to survive is generally enhanced [19].

#### 2.3.3 Anti aging

Polyphenols are commercially exploited for the manufacture of antiaging cosmetics. Premature skin aging is due to various kinds of extrinsic and intrinsic factors. Intrinsic aging can be due to diseased health such as excessive production of free radicals, physiological changes, nutritional deficiency while extrinsic aging is due to pollution, harmful UV exposure, smoking etc. [20]. It has been found that green tea polyphenols inhibits COX2 expression induced due to UV exposure and inhibits skin carcinoma. EGCG, GTPs, Silymarin etc. polyphenols protect skin from UV induced skin damages [21].

#### 2.3.4 Anti- melanogenesis

The polyphenols are widely used for their anti- tyrosinase activities. Due to excessive exposure to UV rays there may be formation of reactive oxygen species. Due to this there is excessive generation of melanin pigments in the skin. It has been found that the quercetin polyphenol has effective anti- melanogenesis property. These polyphenols block the melanogenesis pathways. Bearberry leaves is rich in arbutin which is an effective inhibitor of melanosomal tyrosinase pathway. Several plant polyphenols can block the proliferation of melanocytes.

#### 2.3.5 Anti- inflammatory properties

The UV exposure in skin initiates the pathways associated with inflammatory responses leading to erythema and sin redness. The COX-2 enzyme expression and enhancement in proteins

relating to inflammation, cutaneous edema, presence of inflammatory cytokines all are characteristic feature for inflammatory responses. The plant polyphenols being antiinflammatory helps in suppressing inflammation. The EGCG present in green tea is a great antiinflammatory polyphenols. It reduces the myeloperoxidase activity and proinflammatory cytokines induced due to UV irradiation. Another polyphenol resveratrol inhibits skin thickness induced due to UV irradiation [16].

# 2.4 Polyphenol rich plants for skin diseases

Plants have adequate source of indispensable bioactive phytochemicals. These bioactive components inturn proves to be useful to humans. There has been considerable growth in industrial sector to manufacture plant based products due to their minimal or no side effects and due to their natural origin. Medicinal plants have polyphenolic components that are being used to manufacture herbal medicines, medicinal products and are widely used across the globe for treatment of various diseases. These phenolic components provide plant with antioxidant, anti-tumorogenesis, anti-depressant, anti- inflammatory, anti- aging etc. features. Given below in table1 are some medicinal plants with their polyphenolic components.

Plant species	Main polyphenols	Properties	Reference
	present		
Acacia nilotica	epigallocatechin- 3-	anti tumor ,anti	[22]
	gallate, flavonoids	inflammatory	
	and phenolic	properties,	[23]
	compounds	anti- aging,	

Table1 :	Plants w	ith polyp	enolic conte	ent having	skin	protective effects
----------	----------	-----------	--------------	------------	------	--------------------

radical scavenging

Achillea spp			
Achillea sivasica	1,8-cinneole	Anti- tyrosinase	[24]
Achillea alpine	3,5- dicaffeoyl quinic	Antioxidant,	[25]
	acid, Isovitexin	Anti- melanogenic	
A. biebersteinii	5- caffeoylquinic		
	acid, santin, apigenin	anti- pollution,	[26]
	pentoside, luteolin	Photoprotectant, anti-	
	derivatives,	carcinogenesis and anti-	
	cirsimaritin, camphor	melanocyte,	
Agastache rugosa	Phenylpropanoids,	Anti-aging,	[27]
kuntze	terpenoids, rosmarinic	Antioxidant,	[28]
	acid, tilianin,	Anti- elastase and anti-	[29]
	acacetin,	hyaluronidase	
	agastachoside, methyl		
	flavones, agastinol		
	agastenol, apigenin		
	and quercetin		
Aspalathus linearis	Aspalathin	UV protectant ,anti-	[30]
		inflammatory	[31]
		anti-aging	
Benincasa hispida	triterpenoids,	anti- aging	[32]
	flavonoids, carotene,		
	glycosides, β		
	sitosterin, saccharides		
	and uronic acids		
Calendula officinalis	Quercetin,	anti- aging effects	
	terpenoids,		[33]
	triterpenes, saponins,	skin whitening	
	carotenoids,	properties,	[34]
	flavonoids,	anti-inflammatory,	
	1		

	coumarines	antioxidant properties,	
		photo protective,	[35]
		reduced skin erythema	
Camellia sinensis	(-)-epicatechin-3-	anti- aging	[36].
	gallate (ECG), (-)-	anti- carcinogenic	
	epicatechin(EC), and	anti- inflammatory	[37].
	EGCG		[38]
Centella asiatica	ursane- and oleanane-	skin aging	[39]
	type pentacyclic	anti- hyaluronidase	[40]
	triterpenid,	activity, anti-elastase,	
	madecasosside,		
	madecassic acid,	inhibits H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>	[41]
	asiaticoside and	induced	
	Asiatic acid	antioxidant and anti	
		inflammatory property,	
Coffee Arabica	chlorogenic acid,	wound healing,	[42]
	quinic acid, ferulic	antioxidant	
	acid,	UV protectant, anti-	[43]
	hydroxycinnamic	photo carcinogenesis,	[44]
	acid, cafestol and	anti-inflammatory	
	kahweol		
Coriandrum sativum	quercetin,	Upregulates oxidative	[45]
	kaempferol, acacetin,	defense system.	
	p- coumaric acid,		
	vanillic acid, cis and	protect from UVB	[46]
	trans form of ferulic	induced skin damage,	
	acid		
Crataegus	oligomeric	antioxidant,	[47]
pinnatifida Bge.	procyanidins and their	antiphotoaging	
	glycosides,		[48]
	chlorogenic acid,	collagenase inhibitory	

	rutin, quercetin,	activity,	[49]
	isoquercetin,	antiphotoaging	[50]
	epicatechin, gallic	and anti-inflammatory,	
	acid		
Curcuma longa	Curcumin	anti- aging agent	[51]
	Terpenoids, phenolic	Antioxidant	
	compounds	anti- psoriasis agent	[52]
	X		
Cyclopia spp.	Xanthones,	antioxidant and anti-	[53]
	flavonones, heperidin,	inflammatory, reduced	
	mangiferin	signs of skin peeling,	
		sunburn, reduced	[21]
		erythema, edema, skin	[31]
		hardening, modulated	
		epidermal hyperplasia	
Emblica officinalis	flavonoids, phenolic	Broad – spectrum	[54]
	acids like ellagic and	antioxidant	[55]
	gallic acid, tannins	Antitumor	[56]
	like puniglucoin,	Anti-wrinkle	
	pedunclagin and	Anti-tyrosinase	
	emblicanin	Anti-inflammatory	
Foeniculum vulgare	linolenic, oleic and	Anti-photoaging	[57]
	linoleic acid		[58]
			[59]
Fragaria vesca L.	flavonoids, catechins,	anti- melanogenic,	[60]
	phenolic acids,	antioxidant,	
	ellagitannins,	photoprotectant	[61]
	proanthocyanidins,		
	ellagic acid		

Glycine max	genistein and daidzen	UV protectant, antiaging	[62] [63].
		Anti-photoaging	[64]
		Anti-inflammatory,	
	7, 3',4'-		[65]
	trihydroxyisoflavone,	Anti-tyrosinase	
	0-		
	dihydroxyisoflavone,		
	7, 8, 4'-		
	trihydroxyisoflavone		
	Casuarinin,	antimelanogenic	[66]
Hippophae		properties,	
rhamnoides	$\beta$ - carotene and		[67]
	tocopherol	anti- aging effects	
	quercetin,	reduced skin melanin	[68]
	kaempferol,	and helped melasma	
	isorhamnetin,	patients,	
	catechin, flavonoids,		
	quercetin, oleic acid		[69]
	and linoleic acids,	anti inflammatory,	
	procyanidins,		
	quercetin,	UV-induced skin anti	[70]
	kaempferol,	aging	[71]
	myricetin,		
	isorhamnetin,	regulating skin	
	kaempferol-3-	hydration,	
	rutinoside,	antioxidant,	
		photoprotectant,	
Hydrangea serrata	hydrangenol	Photprotectant,	[72]
(Thunb.) Ser		Antioxidant,	

		Moisturizing properties,	[73]
		antiaging	
Ixora parviflora	chrysin 5-O-β-D-	anti photoaging	[74]
	xylopyranoside,	properties,	
	chlorogenic acid	antioxidant photo	[75]
		protective effects	
Mangifera indica	Mangiferin	antioxidant properties,	[76]
		anti- elastase, anti-	
		collagenase,	
		improves the overall	[77]
		cellular response to	[78]
		heat stress,	
		antiaging agent and	[79]
		photoprotectant	
Momordica charantia	charatin, flavonoids,	Cytoprotective,	[80]
	normordin	Antioxidative, tissue	
		remodeling, hydrating,	
		moisturizing and	
		antipigmentation	
		properties	
Morus alba	gallic acid, tannins,	Anti-photoaging,	[59]
	anthocyanin,	Anti- melanogenesis	[81]
	flavonoids		
Myristica fragrans	macelignan	Antimelanogenic,	[82]
Houtt		inhibition of UVB	
		induced inflammation	[83]
		and photoaging of skin	
Ocimum basilicum	quercetin, gallic acid,	improvement in	[58]
	caffeic acid,	retaining skin moisture,	[59]
	epicatechin, rutin,	antiaging effects,	[84]
	reseveratrol,	antihyperpigmentive,	
	1		

	kaempferol, coumaric	antioxidant,	[85]
	acid, rosmarinic acid,	anti-photoaging,	
	protocatechuic acid,		
Panax ginseng	chlorogenic acid,	anti- skin aging,	[86]
	syringic acid,	photo protective effect,	[87]
	kaempferol,	Antimelanogenic,	[88]
	quercetin, resveratrol,	anti-tyrosinase activity	[89]
	naringenin, gentisic		[90]
	acid, rutin, catechin,		
	n- and p- coumaric		
	acid,		
	vanillic acid		
	flavonoids		
Patrinia villosa	kaempferol	anti- melanogenic	[91]
Penthorum Chinese	Quercetin	Antioxidant, antiaging	[92]
pursh		agent, UVB protectant	
Polypodium	ferulic, caffeic acids,	Antioxidant,	[93]
leucotomos	cinnamic acid and	Antiphotoaging,	
	chlorogenic acids	antiphotocarcinogenesis	
Punica granatum	ellagitannins, ellagic	Anti-photoaging,	[94]
	acid, punicalagins,	Anti- metastatic,	
	anthocyanins	Anti-proliferative,	[95]
		Antioxidant,	
		Photoprotection	
Rhus coriaria L.	tannins, myricetin	antioxidant,	[96]
	derivatives, quercetin	anticarcinogenic,	
	and gallic acid	antifibrogenic,	[97]
	flavonoids, phenolic	genoprotective effect	
	acid and gallotannins		
Silybum marianum	Silibinin	Antitumor,	[98]

	ocadaic acid	Anti- photo	[99]
		carcinogenesis,	[100]
		Antioxidant	
Spatholobus	Formononetin, butin	anti- tyrosinase activity,	[101]
suberectus		inhibiting UVB induced	[102]
		ROS production,	
Terminalia catappa	catechin, ellagic acid,	antioxidant,	[103]
	gallic acid,	immunomodulatory,	
	chlorogenic acid,	anti inflammatory	[104]
	quercetin,	properties,	[105]
	isoquercetin,	metal chelating activity,	
	kaempferol, rutin,		
	isoquercetin,		
	kaempferol, rutin,		
	punicalin, ursolic		
	acid, chebulagic acid,		
	isovitexin		
Theobroma cacao L.	monomeric (-)	Antioxidant,	[106]
	epicatechin and (+)	anti-inflammatory,	
	catechin,	immunomodulatory,	
	proanthocyanidin,	photoprotection	
	flavonols		

# 2.5 Plant tissue culture technique

The extending utilization of these secondary metabolites for industrial manufacture has initiated a need to look for more sustainable production of these secondary metabolites than to pose a threat to natural flora. There has been an increasing pressure upon industries for the manufacture of natural products due to people's changing notion of using natural products. Due to this there has been an increasing exploitation to natural flora leading to their extinction and a bottle neck effect has been created. To this, plant tissue culture is an emerging technique for enhancement and production of secondary metabolites. Plant tissue culture ensures sustainable, economical and bulk production of metabolites without any geographical dependence or seasonal constraints. It allows uniform production of metabolites.

Plant tissue culture is the technique for propagation of aseptic cells, tissue or organ of plants under defined nutrient media in controlled environmental condition. There are several methods that can be employed for tissue culture but the two main methods are organogenesis and callogenesis. In the process of organogenesis there is development of plant organs ie. root or shoot directly from the meristem or through indirect process of callus formation. These culture then can be used to produce plants through micropropagation or the growth of particular organs, for eg. hairy root culture.

The tissue culture technique needs some steps to be followed which are mentioned below. These are the basic steps that need to be followed:

- a Selection of plant of interest based on the study; most preferable a healthy plant should be taken.
- b The next step is the culturing of plants invitro, for which the explants is taken out from the parent plant or seeds of that plant can also be used.
- c Explants or seeds are then surface sterilized with chemicals. Most commonly used sterilization chemicals are sodium hypochlorite, ethanol, autoclaved distilled water, mercuric chloride etc.
- d The sterilized explants are then cultured in defined nutrient media and incubated for some small period of time.
- e Screening is done and contaminated explants are discarded, while the healthy cultures are taken for next step and are allowed to grow under defined environmental conditions.

#### 2.5.1Role of media composition in tissue culture

The growth of explants in tissue culture is based on defined nutritive media. The most widely used media in different culture system is MS media ie. Murashige and Skoog. The incorporation

of various inorganic nutrients, carbon source, organic nutrients, nitrogen source and various plant phytohormones significantly affects the plant growth and differentiation in Plant tissue culture.

#### 2.5.1.1 Inorganic nutrients

The plant life is supported due to various mineral elements. Different types of minerals affects plants in different ways. The inorganic nutrients such as calcium, nitrogen, magnesium, molybdenum, iron, zinc, carbon, hydrogen etc. all affects plant growth in some ways. The calcium is a major component in the synthesis of cell wall. Similarly nitrogen in media is responsible for synthesis of proteins, vitamins, nucleic acids and amino acids. Chrolophyll has the presence of magnesium. Various types of enzymes in plants are part of mineral elements like molybdenum, iron and zinc. Carbon, hydrogen and nitrogen are the major structural unit forming in plants. For maximizing the growth of plants in tissue culture these nutrients are meant to be supplied in defined optimum value. Upon addition of different inorganic nutrients in distilled water there is a process of dissociation and ionization. These ions acts as the active factor in the medium supplied to plants. Therefore these nutrients must be added in media at their optimum value.

## 2.5.1.2 Vitamins

The plants found in their natural habitat are able to synthezise different types of vitamins by themselves for their growth and development. But in tissue culture the vitamins are supplemented to media from outside. Vitamins like nicotinic acid, inositol, thiamine, pyridoxine are supplemented to media at a defined concentration.

## 2.5.1.3 Carbon source

The sucrose is the most widely carbon source in culturing. But variety of carbon sources can be utilized for different plant species. In tissue culture we can use different carbon source ie. sucrose, fructose, maltose, galactose and starch. These carbohydrates acts as a energy source in plant tissue culture because the plants are not capable of photosynthesizing, therefore carbon source is added from outside. The sucrose is most preffered over other sugar sources as it readily breaks down into glucose and fructose. Generally, 2-5% sucrose concentration is recommended for plant growth in tissue culture.

#### 2.5.1.4 Growth regulators

Growth regulators in other terms are plant growth hormones. These are organic compounds which plants synthesize on their own in natural environmental condition. In order to synthesize these hormones in tissue culture there are synthetically derived plant growth regulators which work similarly to the natural hormones present in plants. Plant growth hormones are responsible for stimulating signals for stress response. It has been found that the endogenous regulation of growth hormones can majorly affects the acclimatization against stress. There has been studies that indicates their exogenous application can make plants stress tolerance against heavy metals. The plant response is severely affected when any kind of stress is applied but the use of hormones can help plant to tolerate different kind of stresses. There are major five types of plant growth hormones available that are auxins, cytokinins, gibberellins, abscisic acid, and ethylene. The naturally occurring plant growth are isopentenyladenine, Indole Acetic acid, cytokinin, zeatin. But the two main class of plant growth hormone are Auxin and cytokinins.

#### Auxin

The plant hormone auxin is responsible for inducing cell elongation and its division. They are the major hormone for inducing callus formation. Auxins are responsible for root generation in plants. They are rhizogenic in nature. It has been found that the auxin supply also inhibits axillary and adventitious shoot formation. The effect of auxin on plant growth depends on its concentration supplemented in tissue culturing. It is seen that the high concentration of auxin is responsible for callus formation, whereas auxin in its low concentration enables adventitious root development. The most commonly used auxin are naphthalene acetic acid, p- chlorophenoxy acetic acid, indole butyric acid etc.

## Cytokinins

They are derived from adenine. Their basic role is to induce shoot in plants. They are responsible for cell division in plants. Cytokinins are responsible for plant growth and development. Their basic role is to promote organogenesis in plants. They stimulate bud formation. they function antagonistically to auxins. As at high concentration, cytokinins are known to produce adventitious shoot and inhibits root formation. They decrease apical dominance and promotes axillary shoot formations. The naturally occurring cytokinins are zeatin and 2- isopentyladenine. Kinetins, 6- Benzyladenine are the synthetically derived one. The most commonly used cytokinin are 6- Benzyladenine and 6- Benzyl aminopurine.

#### Gibberellins

These are most prominently found in roots, young leaves, root tips, active buds and seeds. Their application on whole plant is responsible for stimulating growth of main stem. They play a major role in plant regeneration. During meristem culturing gibberellins are preferred as they induce their growth. The internode elongation in tissue culture is induced by gibberellins. Gibberellins acts as antagonistic to organogenesis. They inhibits shoot and adventitious root formation. They inhibits the process of dedifferentiation.

#### Abscisic acid

They induce embryogenesis and it is a growth inhibitor. It is produced during the stress in plants. It is also known as dormancy hormones.

#### Ethylene

Ethylene is a gaseous growth hormone. This is produced by cultured plants in plant tissue culture. The exact role of ethylene is still not known during cell and organ culture. This is usually applied as a powdered form enhances its penetration through plant tissue and liberates ethylene.

#### 2.5.1.5 Gelling agent

Agar is the most widely used solidifying agent in media preparation. Agar has high molecular weight. The concentration of agar decides its binding with water. If the concentration of agar is higher then its binding increases with water. The optimum concentration of agar is very

important in media formation. The high concentration of agar in media makes the media hard and it blocks the penetration of nutrients into tissue.

The synthetic gelling agents are preferred as they are generally clear in appearance at low concentration. This clear gel makes possible the detection of contamination of any type in media.

## 2.5.1.6 pH

The optimum pH is responsible for plant's specific biological activity. It has been found that the pH ranging from 5.0 to 6.0 is suitable for plants invitro. pH exceeding the pH value 7.0 and lower than 4.5 hampers the plant growth.

#### 2.6 Biotechnological approaches for secondary metabolites production

## 2.6.1 Micropropagation

It is an invitro technique for production of homogenous genetically similar plants in short period of time. It is a successful technique for enhancement of secondary metabolites in medicinal plants. Optimizing growth and secondary metabolite production can be possible by variating different media composition, altering the nutrient quantity in the media, introduction of heavy metals in the media, abiotic environmental stresses such as change in pH, temperature, light can be applied to plantlets in culture. The invitro shoot culture growth is highly influenced by the growth regulators used. It has been found that the use of thidiazuron and kinetin in micropropagation of *Linum usitatissimum* resulted in enhanced quantity of flavonoids, lignans, polyphenols and antioxidant enzymes in shoot culture [107].

#### 2.6.2 Hairy root culture

In hairy root the explants is infected with bacteria *Agrobacterium rhizogenes*. The bacteria inserts its T-DNA through Ri plasmid and genetically modifies the plant tissue. After some days the hairy root will be induced. The decontaminated roots are subcultured on another liquid media. The infection leads to neoplastic growth of roots in culture media without any hormone.

This is because the production of auxins which is root promoting plant hormone is endogenously produced by the genes present in T-DNA. This ensures high productivity of desired polyphenolic stable products. They can produce metabolites that are produced in roots as well as in aerial parts of plant [108]. Further, the hairy root cultures are manipulated in order to produce volatiles by inserting desired transgene into T-DNA.

## 2.6.3 Callus culture

The other process of callus culture is an indirect process in which the undifferentiated mass of cells is produced in response to various growth regulators. These undifferentiated mass of cells are then transferred into liquid media and continuously agiatated for cell suspension culture. Further, this callus can regenerate whole plant for the production of industrially important secondary metabolites in bulk [109]. Although, cell suspension culture is less feasible because of many limitations associated with it such as instability of cell lines, slow growth, lower yield of metabolites compared to other methods and problems in scaling up. The elicitation highly affects the synthesis of secondary metabolites in callus culture or cell suspension culture.

The use of cell suspension culture is generally preferred for studying the secondary metabolites synthesis. The cultivation of cells has potential benefits in secondary metabolites production which are:

- The environmental factors such as climate, microbes, pests etc. do not interfere in polyphenols synthesis.
- Any cell of the plant can be made to produce any specific secondary metabolite and these cells can be further multiplied.
- A homogenous same product can be synthesized using a particular characterized plant cell line.
- The metabolic processes occurring in plants and the cell growth can be regulated depending upon the production of metabolites.
- Biotransformation of specific substrate can be possible in cell culture and this biotransformation can lead to production of valuable products due to altering in functioning of enzymatic activity.

• Cells could be manipulated in order to enhance the route of synthesis of metabolites. This can lead to discovery of novel products that are generally not found in plants.

The production of polyphenols ie. secondary metabolites in plant tissue culture is highly affected by several factors such as explants selection, nutrient concentration provided to plant, type of culture media used, growth regulators, salt strength in media provided and various kinds of biotic and abiotic elicitors.

#### 2.7 Role of abiotic elicitors in polyphenol enhancement

There are many environmental stresses that causes damage to plant and are harmful to them such as change in temperature, UV radiation, pH variation, carbon concentration, nitrogen concentration, nutrient concentration, heavy metals etc. the main function of these elicitors is basically to create stress condition in plants under plant tissue culture for secondary metabolite production.

#### 2.7.1 Temperature

The exposure of plant with high or low temperature results in formation of ROS which causes cellular damages in plant. The free radical produced disturbs the structure of protein, DNA and lipid membrane causing cellular damage. To protect itself plant has a number of enzymatic and non- enzymatic mechanisms which lead to production of secondary metabolites. Varying incubating temperature of the culture affects the plants metabolic process and ontogeny. *Eleutherococcus senticosus* somatic embryo when grown in different temperature condition showed variation in growth and production of secondary metabolites. Embryos grown at 12 and 30 degree showed inhibited growth.the chlorogenic acid content was also found to reduce at decreasing temperature. It has also been found that the phenolic content decreased at 12, 18 and 30 degree but increased at 24 degree [110]. There has been studies which suggests that both light and temperature can have synergistic effect on the growth and secondary metabolites production. The callus culture of *Helicteres Isora* L when subjected to varying light and temperature source was found to varying effects on growth and phenolics production. It has been found that the calli

which are irradiated with white light for 28 days showed maximum total phenolic content and total flavonoids content. Similarly, when the calli were exposued to temperature ranging 28 degree celcius showed increase callus growth with increment in phenolic and flavonoids content but reduction in the level of betulinic acid. Betulinic acid content increment to 200% was seen when the calli were incubated at low temperature (13degree celcius) for 28 days [111].

#### 2.7.2 Salt stress

High pH condition means high salt condition; this stress causes cellular dehydration leading to removal of cytoplasmic water resulting in overall decrease in volume of cytoplasm and vacuole. This kind of stress may either lead to accumulation of metabolites or decrease in metabolite production as this stress causes both osmotic and ionic stress in cultured plant [112]. It has been found that the high salt concentration in soyabean is found to increase the production of various secondary metabolites ie. flavonols, saponin, flavones, alkaloids, saponin and flavonoids [113]. Another study on *Spinacia oleracea* suggests production of industrially important secondary metabolite named as 20E [114]. Generally the amount of anthocyanins increases upon salt stress but it is repressed in salt sensitive species [115].

#### 2.7.3 Nutrient stress

Nutrient media is a source of carbon, macronutrients, micronutrients and growth hormone for plant growing in tissue culture. Any change in concentration, form or proportion of nutrient media can severely affect the growth pattern of culture plant and also affects the production of secondary metabolites. Various nutrient availability can affect differently to plants in vitro. It has been seen that the phosphorus stress could lead to decreases plant growth and can be helpful for accumulation of anthocyanin. Magnesium playing the role in chlorophyll formation, ATP synthesis, CO2 synthesis, photosynthetic products assimilation in plant. The stress caused due to Mg has been linked to generation of reaction oxygen species that further affects the production of carotenoids. The rutin production in *Morus albus* is highly affected by the ammonium nitrate concentration . It has been seen that low NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>/NO<sub>3</sub> ratio resulted in higher rutin production that the one containing high ratios in root culture of Morus albus [116].
#### 2.7.4 Carbon

Carbohydrates being the necessary source of carbon for invitro plants also affect the production of secondary metabolites. Sucrose and glucose are two most commonly used sugars added in a basal media at a concentration of 2 to 4%. But, maltose, fructose and other sugars can also be used to check the growth of different plant cells. The choice of a particular sugar totally depends upon the type of parent plant and products to be extracted. In a study, the flavonoids content increased to 72.3g/L from 18.8mg/L upon increasing the amount of sucrose from 10g/L to 50g/L in cell suspension culture of *Glycyrrhiza inflate* [117]. In another study it has been found that the culture of *Vitis vinifera* when supplemented with sucrose or mannitol enhanced the accumulation of anthocyanin upto 1.5 times due to enhanced osmotic pressure due to sugar used [118]. In *Coleus blumei* the yield of rosamarinic acid increased to 3.3g/L from 0.8g/L upon changing the concentration of sucrose in nutrient media to 7.5% to2.5%.

#### 2.7.5 Nitrogen

The nitrate and ammonium ions are the source of nitrogen in culture media such as MS, B5 or LS. In *Vitis Bailey Alicante* cell suspension the anthocyanin production increased upon reducing the nitrate ion concentration and increasing the ammonium ion in turn in culture media. The flavonoids content in *Glycyrrhiza inflate* increased upto 73.1mg/L from 36.4mg/L when the nitrogen concentration was raised from 10 mmol/L to 120 mmol/L in MS medium used for cell suspension culture.

#### 2.7.6 Light

Light is a major limiting factor affecting the growth. It also affects the production of secondary metabolites in plants either growing in nature or under controlled environmental condition. Different plants respond differently to the type of light, intensity of light, exposure duration in their physiological response and production of secondary metabolites. The flavonoid rutin concentration also gets affected when the light variation has been provided to plant <u>Hyptis marrubioides</u> Epling. The seedlings cultured in invitro were provided with different variations of light like blue, green, white, yellow and red and has been found that the plants which were irradiated with red light leads to high biomass production and high number of leaves.

The cultures irradiated with white and blue light promoted the increased rutin concentration [119]. Invitro cell suspension culture of *Artemisia absinthium was evaluated for differential light intensity for the secondary metabolite production and biomass growth. The results suggested that light and dark grown cultures significantly affected the biomass production. The total phenolic content, total phenolic production also increased in cultures that were light grown during the log phase [120]. The secondary metabolite named as 6-gingerol and zingiberene was increased in light treated callus culture of <i>Zingiber officinale* [121]. Panax ginseng cell culture was found to have increased phenolic content upon the combined stress by UV and ultrasonic [117].

These all stresses significantly affects the metabolism of plant along with the synthesis of secondary metabolites. Given below is the list which includes increment in polyphenols in medicinal plants through various stress conditions.

Type of stress	Plant species	Polyphenol increased	References
Nutrient stress	Ocimum basilicum	Rosmarinic acid	[122]
Light stress	Orthosiphon aristatus	Total phenolic content, flavonoids	[117]
Light stress	<i>Betula pendula</i> and <i>B</i> . <i>resinifera</i>	condensed tannins, hydroxycinnamic acids	[123]
UV-B stress	Kalanchoe pinnata	flavonoid	[124]
Nutrient stress	Melissa officinalis L.	flavonoids	[125]

Table 2:	Various elicitors	for polyphenol	enhancement
----------	-------------------	----------------	-------------

Heavy metal	Panax ginseng	phenolics and	[126]
		flavonoids	
Heavy metal	Camellia sinensis L.	flavanoids	
Low pH and	Silybum marianum	flavolignans	[116]
temperature			
Boron stress	Olea europaea	phenolic compounds	

# 2.8 Future prospects

Medicinal plants have gained a lot of importance in alternative medicines and for extraction of health promoting bioactive compounds. The proper knowledge of bioactive chemical present in plant species and its effect on humans is of high importance. Proper identification of plant, its harvesting and post harvesting are important. The phytochemical profile of bioactive compound and its specific activity is greatly affected by the environmental factors and genetics of plants. Hence, it is of utmost importance to check and identify the particular plant species before culturing. The plant species not capable of producing enough polyphenols may be a rare and endangered species. Hence its must be propagated through biotechnological ways of tissue culture. The production of plant species in controlled environmental condition allows the study of pathways of the phytochemicals produced by a particular plant. Plant cell culture holds potential for manufacturing economically and valuably important bioactive compounds for therapeutics.

# **CHAPTER3. METHODOLOGY**

**Aim:** The main purpose behind this project was to enhance the polyphenol concentration in plants upon providing various stress conditions and to check the effect of carbon and nitrogen sources on plant growth and polyphenol production.

# 3.1 Process of Culturing :

# 3.1.1 Composition of MS media for 1L

Macronutrients	g/L
NaNO <sub>3</sub>	1.65
KNO <sub>3</sub>	1.9
CaCl <sub>2</sub> .2H <sub>2</sub> O	0.44
MgSO <sub>4.</sub> 7H <sub>2</sub> O	0.37
KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	0.17
Micronutrients	mg/L
KI	0.83
H <sub>3</sub> B0 <sub>3</sub>	6.20
MnSO <sub>4.</sub> 7H <sub>2</sub> O	8.6
ZnSO <sub>4</sub> .7H2O	8.6
Na2MoO4.2H2O	0.25
CuSO <sub>4</sub> .5H <sub>2</sub> O	0.025
CoCl <sub>2</sub> .6H <sub>2</sub> O	0.025

Na <sub>2</sub> EDTA	37.3
FeSO <sub>4</sub> .7H <sub>2</sub> O	27.8
Vitamins	mg/L
Inositol	100
Glycine	2
Thiamine HCl	0.1
Pyridoxine HCl	0.5
Nicotinic acid	0.5

After these nutrients, 30g sucrose and 8 gram of Agar is added.

# 3.1.2 Stock solution preparation

To avoid the tedious process of weighing individual salts each time, it is best to prepare concentrated solution of desired chemicals. These are called as stock solutions. They are made in distilled water and after use stored at  $4^{\circ}$ C in refrigerator.

We prepared the stock solution 1mg/ml of micronutrients and vitamins except for inositol. After weighing 40 mg of each micronutrients in falcon tube, 40 ml of distilled water is added and the solution is dissolved properly. For Inositol stock we dissolved 1g inositol in 10ml of dissolved water.

# 3.1.3 Preparation of MS Media

For 1L media preparation, a 1000L conical flask is used. Initially all the macronutrients were weighed and dissolved properly in 50 ml of distilled water. After that the micronutrients are pipette out from 1mg/1ml stock solution prepared. The salts are mixed properly so that homogenous solution can be obtained. After that the desired concentration of vitamins are pipetted out from stock solution prepared in conical flask. After all the mixing has been done,

30g of sucrose is added and volume is make up to 1000ml with distilled water. Then, the pH is checked and maintained at 5.8. The pH is balanced by either 1M HCl or 1 N NaOH solution. After the pH is balanced 8 grams of agar is added and mixed slightly. The basal media is then autoclaved for 20 min at 15psi at 121<sup>o</sup>C. Keep all the required apparatus such as petridish, scalpels, foreceps, culture tubes, measuring cylinder, distilled water, test tube stand for autoclaving to ensure aseptic culturing process.

### 3.1.4 Pouring of MS Media

The laminar air flow hood is sterilized using 70% ethanol and on the UV switch of laminar flow hood for 15 minutes before starting the procedure of pouring. The autoclaved basal media is made to slightly cooled down and then plant growth hormones 175mg/L IAA and 215mg/L kinetin are added. The MS media is then poured in autoclaved culture tubes and made to solidify. The culture tubes are then incubated at room temperature for 36 hours to check if any tube is contaminated.

#### 3.1.5 Plant material collection

From the plants reviewed for skin problems we choose plants for further experimentation. The medicinal plant *Kalanchoe pinnata* was collected from the nursery of Delhi Technological University. Various types of explants like leaf, root, axillary shoot, node were collected from the parent plant in 1% saline solution.

The seeds of Melissa officinalis were purchased from Allthatgrows.

### 3.1.6 Sterilization of explants

Explants of *Kalanchoe pinnata* were removed from 1% saline solution and dipped in 70% ethanol for approx 2 minutes. the explants were properly trimmed using scalpels. The explants were surface sterilized using 1% mercuric chloride solution for approx 30 seconds followed by washing twice with autoclaved distilled H<sub>2</sub>O.

# 3.1.7 Inoculation of explants

The MS media poured in culture tubes were screened for any kind of contaminated. The decontamined culture tubes are used for inoculation of explants in culture tubes. For inoculation, the sterilized explants are transferred carefully into the culture tubes using sterilized forceps.

# 3.1.8 Incubation of cultured plantlets

The inoculated tubes are sealed with parafilm and tubes are incubated at  $25^{\circ}$ C and 16 hr photoperiod in tissue culture rack.

# 3.1.9 Subculturing of cultured plantlets

Subculturing was done on media containing different variation of carbon (glucose, fructose and sucrose) and nitrogen (potassium nitrate, sodium nitrate) for optimizing secondary metabolite production in cultured plantlets.

### 3.2 Extraction of polyphenols

The different types of extraction methods can be used for extraction of polyphenols. There are many techniques for extraction. Some of them are ultrasonic extraction, microwave assisted extraction, enzyme assisted extraction.

### 3.2.1 Microwave assisted extraction:

This process uses the energy of microwave to heat the solvent present in contact with the sample. The heat produced in turn increases the diffusibility of solvent towards the sample. This in turn extracts and diffuses polyphenols out of the matrix. The hydrogen bonds are denatured due to the dipole rotation of molecules. Due to which solvent penetrates into the matrix and allows the dissolution of metabolites into the liquid matrices [127]. Monomeric polyphenols are generally extracted by this method.

### 3.2.2 Ultrasound Assisted extraction:

The micro- sized bubbles are made to cause mechanical disruption of tissues allowing the release of phytochemical into the solvent. The ultrasound with frequency 20 to 2000 kHz is used to produce cavitation which enhances permeability of cell walls. Polyphenols from leaves, stem, bark, stem are extracted using this technique.

#### 3.2.3 Enzyme Assisted Extraction:

Different types of enzymes such as cellulase, pectinase, hemicellulase and other such enzymes are made to hydrolyze the component of cell walls which enhance the extraction of polyphenolic component from the cell [127].

# 3.3 Determination of total phenolic content and flavonoids content

The biochemical assays that can be performed for determining the quantity of total phenolics and flavonoids content in plants.

• For total phenolic content

Folin ciocalteau (FC) assay is used for determination of total phenolic content in plant extract. For this the plant extract is made after extraction with methanol. Further the test sample approx 0.2 ml is taken and 0.6ml distilled water is added to it along with 0.2 ml of F-C reagent. After 5 min of incubation, 1ml sodium carbonate (8% w/v in water) is mixed in mixture. Then further volume makeup can be done by adding 3ml of distilled water. Incubation of mixture is further carried out in dark for 30 minutes. Finally after centrifugating the absorbance of blue colour sample is carried at 765nm taking gallic acid as standard [128].

• For total flavonoids content

Aluminium chloride calorimetric method is used for the estimation of flavonoids in test sample. For this plant extract is made. The standard curve is made by taking quercetin as standard. Stock of quercetin is made in methanol by dissolving 5mg quercetin in1ml methanol. Further serial dilution is done using methanol for the standard solution of quercetin. Then 0.6ml of 2%

aluminium chloride is mixed with plant extract and mixed it properly. Further incubate the mixture for 60 minutes. The absorbance is taken at 420 nm against blank at 420nm [128].

For separation, identification and qualification of polyphenols classical techniques like gas chromatography, HPLC, capillary electrophoresis and thin layer chromatography can be used as a detection tool for polyphenolic profiles [129].

### **CHAPTER 4 RESULT**

The *Kalanchoe pinnata* is a medicinal plant that belongs to Crassulaceae family. It is highly rich in polyphenols and that's why it is used for its biological activities such as antihypertensive, antibacterial, skin hydrating, wound healing and antileishmanial properties. Although the plant is high in polyphenols but its leaves are highly rich in flavonoids. The major flavonoid isolated from leaves of *Kalanchoe pinnata* is quercetin 3-O- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranosyl- $(1\rightarrow 2)-\alpha$ -Lrhamnopyranoside. This polyphenol has potential of wound healing and is also used to treat inflammation [130]. Quercitrin is also a polyphenol majorly present in *Kalanchoe pinnata*. Several studies has found the effect of abiotic stresses in enhancing polyphenol content in *Kalanchoe pinnata*. In a study the UV-B has been used as an abiotic stress to enhance the polyphenols content and results proved that supplementation of UVB radiation enhances the flavonoids content in leaves without disturbing the antioxidant property of plant. The plants supplemented with white and UVB contained high amount of quercitrin [124]. In another study the effect of blue light and UVA was seen. It was found from the results that blue light when supplemented to plant increased their antioxidant properties. The blue light also changed the phenolic profile of the plant and increased the flavonoids content of plant [131].

Our study also aimed at optimizing the polyphenol content in *Kalanchoe pinnata*. After approximately 30 days the cultured plantlets were seen proliferating. Out of the different explants inoculated in MS media only axillary shoot proliferated indicating that the *Kalanchoe pinnata* can be propagated by using axillary shoot. After about 40 days the cultured plantlets can be subcultured in MS media with different carbon and nitrogen sources and different stress can be induced such as pH, temperature, light. Further for total polyphenolic content Folinciocalteau test is done and for flavonoids content aluminium chloride calorimetric assay can be performed. The carbon source acts as a major framework for plant species. The process of photosynthesis is for the carbon synthesis in plants and this is stored in the form of energy source. Carbon is the main source that affects the growth of plantlets in culture media. Normally, the best source recommended for explants growth is 2-4% sucrose. Nitrogen in turn is responsible for protein synthesis in plants. The change in nitrogen source can affect the plant

growth of different species. Our study aims to see the impact of carbon and nitrogen source on plant growth and polyphenol production.



Fig2. Kalanchoe pinnata cultured plantlets



Fig3. Kalanchoe pinnata cultured plantlets after 40 days

#### 4.1 Discussion

Secondary metabolites are of immense importance for both plants and humans. The plants in their natural environmental condition are capable of producing secondary metabolites for protecting themselves from any kind of environmental stress. These secondary metabolites have become a new source for drug discovery. According to WHO more than 70% of population is dependent on herbal products for treating any disease at primary level. To meet such a high demand for secondary metabolite for manufacturing herbal products, the biotechnological ways such as plant tissue culture is a major breakthrough in its production. The technique of plant culture ensures continuous production of medicinal plants whole year without any seasonal or geographical constraints. It also prevents the ecologically important plant species by preventing their excessive harvesting. The mass cloning through plant tissue culture provides the sustainable and cost- effective method for secondary metabolite production. Organ culture, plant cell suspension culture, hairy root culture are suitable option for production of secondary metabolites. The benefit of metabolite production through tissue culture lies on the fact that these can be manually manipulated in order to trigger the defense response in plant tissues grown invitro. These stresses can be triggered by the use of various elicitors for enhancement of secondary metabolites. The scaling up of invitro culturing make continuous production of high-valued stable secondary metabolites. Plant suspension culture ensures process of scaling convenient for metabolite synthesis because of the shorter cycle and simpler bioreactor construction. The hairy root cultures is a breakthrough for synthesis of metabolites in aromatic and medicinal plants because of the feasibility of plant metabolic engineering process in them. However their optimization is a prerequisite for their maximum production as it has been found that the plant cultures are able to produce 10 folds more amount of phytochemicals when optimized properly.

#### 4.2 Conclusion

The biotechnological ways for enhancement of plant secondary metabolites through invitro tissue culture method has potential for meeting increased demand of natural bioactive compounds for commercial purposes. The plant tissue culture technique has made possible to enhance the research of active components for improved understanding of the pathways involved in plants for production of secondary metabolites. The secondary metabolites in turn has found to be an emerging source of herbal medicines. It has been found from many researches conducted that the polyphenols have skin protective effects. Being natural in origin and having very less side effects they had gain enormous popularity among consumers as natural cosmetics. But for meeting the increasing demand of industries for herbal products many natural plant species are in danger of extinction. Therefore plant tissue culture has become a boom for enhanced production of polyphenols. It has been found that various abiotic or biotic stress can be given to plants for enhanced polyphenol production in tissue culture. The use of invitro techniques has made it possible to know about the biosynthetic pathways for enhancement of polyphenols that can be employed in therapeutics related to skin diseases. However, due to insufficient data on safe use of plant polyphenols, the concerns are still there. This wrong perception among people that the plant products are always safe and without any side effects is wrong. A lot of toxic compounds may be found in different plant species. To overcome this problem, a detailed knowledge of the plant bioactive components and their associated pathways is very important. This somewhat simplifies the process of targeted extraction and production of plant metabolites through biotechnological approaches.

#### REFERENCES

- A. Ratz-Yko, J. Arct, S. Majewski, and K. Pytkowska, "Influence of polyphenols on the physiological processes in the skin," *Phytotherapy Research*, vol. 29, no. 4. John Wiley and Sons Ltd, pp. 509–517, Apr. 01, 2015, doi: 10.1002/ptr.5289.
- [2] K. B. Pandey and S. I. Rizvi, "Plant polyphenols as dietary antioxidants in human health and disease," *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, vol. 2, no. 5. Hindawi Limited, pp. 270–278, Nov. 2009, doi: 10.4161/oxim.2.5.9498.
- [3] O. V. Zillich, U. Schweiggert-Weisz, P. Eisner, and M. Kerscher, "Polyphenols as active ingredients for cosmetic products," *International Journal of Cosmetic Science*, vol. 37, no. 5. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, pp. 455–464, Oct. 01, 2015, doi: 10.1111/ics.12218.
- [4] B. Singh *et al.*, "Plant polyphenols: The futuristic bioactive therapeutics for skin care," in *Polyphenols: Prevention and Treatment of Human Disease*, Elsevier, 2018, pp. 385–394.
- [5] H. Chandran, M. Meena, T. Barupal, and K. Sharma, "Plant tissue culture as a perpetual source for production of industrially important bioactive compounds," *Biotechnology Reports*, vol. 26. Elsevier B.V., Jun. 01, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.btre.2020.e00450.
- [6] S. Quideau, D. Deffieux, C. Douat-Casassus, and L. Pouységu, "Plant polyphenols: Chemical properties, biological activities, and synthesis," *Angewandte Chemie -International Edition*, vol. 50, no. 3. pp. 586–621, Jan. 17, 2011, doi: 10.1002/anie.201000044.
- [7] R. Tsao, "Chemistry and biochemistry of dietary polyphenols," *Nutrients*, vol. 2, no. 12.
   MDPI AG, pp. 1231–1246, 2010, doi: 10.3390/nu2121231.
- [8] X. Montané *et al.*, "Current perspectives of the applications of polyphenols and flavonoids in cancer therapy," *Molecules*, vol. 25, no. 15. MDPI AG, Aug. 01, 2020, doi: 10.3390/molecules25153342.
- [9] E. Brglez Mojzer, M. Knez Hrnčič, M. Škerget, Ž. Knez, and U. Bren, "Polyphenols: Extraction Methods, Antioxidative Action, Bioavailability and Anticarcinogenic Effects," *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, vol. 21, no. 7. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing

Institute (MDPI), Jul. 11, 2016, doi: 10.3390/molecules21070901.

- [10] J. Arct and K. Pytkowska, "Flavonoids as components of biologically active cosmeceuticals," *Clin. Dermatol.*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 347–357, Jul. 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.clindermatol.2008.01.004.
- [11] A. N. Panche, A. D. Diwan, and S. R. Chandra, "Flavonoids: An overview," *Journal of Nutritional Science*, vol. 5. Cambridge University Press, Jan. 08, 2016, doi: 10.1017/jns.2016.41.
- [12] V. Saibabu, Z. Fatima, L. A. Khan, and S. Hameed, "Therapeutic potential of dietary phenolic acids," *Advances in Pharmacological Sciences*, vol. 2015. Hindawi Publishing Corporation, 2015, doi: 10.1155/2015/823539.
- [13] K. B. Pandey and S. I. Rizvi, "Plant polyphenols as dietary antioxidants in human health and disease," *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, vol. 2, no. 5. Hindawi Limited, pp. 270–278, Nov. 2009, doi: 10.4161/oxim.2.5.9498.
- [14] M. Reinisalo, A. Kårlund, A. Koskela, K. Kaarniranta, and R. O. Karjalainen,
   "Polyphenol stilbenes: Molecular mechanisms of defence against oxidative stress and aging-related diseases," *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, vol. 2015. Hindawi Publishing Corporation, 2015, doi: 10.1155/2015/340520.
- [15] P. Kumar Ashok and K. Upadhyaya, "Tannins are Astringent," 2012. Accessed: Feb. 14, 2021. [Online]. Available: www.phytojournal.comwww.phytojournal.com.
- F. Afaq and S. K. Katiyar, "Polyphenols: Skin Photoprotection and Inhibition of Photocarcinogenesis," *Mini-Reviews Med. Chem.*, vol. 11, no. 14, pp. 1200–1215, Nov. 2012, doi: 10.2174/13895575111091200.
- [17] C. Rodríguez-García, C. Sánchez-Quesada, E. Toledo, M. Delgado-Rodríguez, and J. J. Gaforio, "Naturally lignan-rich foods: A dietary tool for health promotion?," *Molecules*, vol. 24, no. 5. MDPI AG, 2019, doi: 10.3390/molecules24050917.
- [18] R. R. Korać and K. M. Khambholja, "Potential of herbs in skin protection from ultraviolet radiation," *Pharmacognosy Reviews*, vol. 5, no. 10. Wolters Kluwer -- Medknow

Publications, pp. 164–173, Jul. 2011, doi: 10.4103/0973-7847.91114.

- [19] T. E. A. Martins *et al.*, "Contribution of topical antioxidants to maintain healthy skin—A review," *Sci. Pharm.*, vol. 88, no. 2, pp. 1–17, 2020, doi: 10.3390/scipharm88020027.
- [20] S. Zhang and E. Duan, "Fighting against Skin Aging: The Way from Bench to Bedside," *Cell Transplantation*, vol. 27, no. 5. SAGE Publications Ltd, pp. 729–738, May 01, 2018, doi: 10.1177/0963689717725755.
- [21] J. A. Nichols and S. K. Katiyar, "Skin photoprotection by natural polyphenols: Antiinflammatory, antioxidant and DNA repair mechanisms," *Archives of Dermatological Research*, vol. 302, no. 2. NIH Public Access, pp. 71–83, 2010, doi: 10.1007/s00403-009-1001-3.
- [22] T. Kalaivani and L. Mathew, "Free radical scavenging activity from leaves of Acacia nilotica (L.) Wild. ex Delile, an Indian medicinal tree," *Food Chem. Toxicol.*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 298–305, Jan. 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2009.10.013.
- [23] A. Ali, N. Akhtar, and H. M. S. Khan, "Enhancement of human cheek skin texture by Acacia nilotica bark extract cream," *Trop. J. Pharm. Res.*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 323–327, Jun. 2013, doi: 10.4314/tjpr.v12i3.8.
- [24] Y. Haliloglu *et al.*, "International Journal of Food Properties Phytochemicals, antioxidant, and antityrosinase activities of Achillea sivasica Çelik and Akpulat Phytochemicals, antioxidant, and antityrosinase activities of Achillea sivasica Çelik and Akpulat," 2017, doi: 10.1080/10942912.2017.1308954.
- [25] H. J. Lee *et al.*, "Antioxidant and Antimelanogenic Activities of Compounds Isolated from the Aerial Parts of *Achillea alpina* L.," *Chem. Biodivers.*, vol. 16, no. 7, p. e1900033, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.1002/cbdv.201900033.
- [26] K. Gaweł-Bęben, M. Strzępek-Gomółka, M. Czop, Z. Sakipova, K. Głowniak, and W. Kukula-Koch, "Achillea millefolium L. And Achillea biebersteinii Afan. hydroglycolic extracts-bioactive ingredients for cosmetic use," *Molecules*, vol. 25, no. 15, Aug. 2020, doi: 10.3390/molecules25153368.

- [27] S. Zielińska and A. Matkowski, "Phytochemistry and bioactivity of aromatic and medicinal plants from the genus Agastache (Lamiaceae)," *Phytochemistry Reviews*, vol. 13, no. 2. Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 391–416, 2014, doi: 10.1007/s11101-014-9349-1.
- [28] Y. Oh *et al.*, "Attenuating properties of Agastache rugosa leaf extract against ultraviolet-B-induced photoaging via up-regulating glutathione and superoxide dismutase in a human keratinocyte cell line," *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B Biol.*, vol. 163, pp. 170–176, Oct. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2016.08.026.
- [29] Y. Lee *et al.*, "Anti-Inflammatory, Barrier-Protective, and Antiwrinkle Properties of Agastache rugosa Kuntze in Human Epidermal Keratinocytes," *Biomed Res. Int.*, vol. 2020, 2020, doi: 10.1155/2020/1759067.
- [30] T. Magcwebeba, P. Swart, S. Swanevelder, E. Joubert, and W. Gelderblom, "Antiinflammatory effects of aspalathus linearis and Cyclopia spp. Extracts in a UVB/Keratinocyte (HaCaT) model utilising interleukin-1-Accumulation as biomarker," *Molecules*, vol. 21, no. 10, Oct. 2016, doi: 10.3390/molecules21101323.
- [31] M. Cavinato, B. Waltenberger, G. Baraldo, C. V. C. Grade, H. Stuppner, and P. Jansen-Dürr, "Plant extracts and natural compounds used against UVB-induced photoaging," *Biogerontology*, vol. 18, no. 4. Springer Netherlands, pp. 499–516, Aug. 01, 2017, doi: 10.1007/s10522-017-9715-7.
- [32] V. Sabale, H. Kunjwani, and P. Sabale, "Formulation and in vitro evaluation of the topical antiageing preparation of the fruit of Benincasa hispida," *J. Ayurveda Integr. Med.*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 124–128, 2011, doi: 10.4103/0975-9476.85550.
- [33] N. Akhtar, S. Uz Zaman, B. Ali Khan, M. N. Amir, and M. A. Ebrahimzadeh,
   "CALENDULA EXTRACT: EFFECTS ON MECHANICAL PARAMETERS OF HUMAN SKIN," *Acta Pol. Pharm. ñ Drug Res.*, vol. 68, no. 5, pp. 693–701, 2011.
- [34] L. M. L. Parente, R. D. S. Lino Júnior, L. M. F. Tresvenzol, M. C. Vinaud, J. R. De Paula, and N. M. Paulo, "Wound healing and anti-inflammatory effect in animal models of calendula officinalis L. growing in Brazil," *Evidence-based Complement. Altern. Med.*,

vol. 2012, 2012, doi: 10.1155/2012/375671.

- [35] A. K. Mishra, A. Mishra, A. Verma, and P. Chattopadhyay, "Effects of Calendula essential oil-based cream on biochemical parameters of skin of albino rats against ultraviolet B radiation," *Sci. Pharm.*, vol. 80, no. 3, pp. 669–683, 2012, doi: 10.3797/scipharm.1112-18.
- [36] S. K. Katiyar, N. Ahmad, and H. Mukhtar, "Green tea and skin," *Archives of Dermatology*, vol. 136, no. 8. American Medical Association, pp. 989–994, Aug. 01, 2000, doi: 10.1001/archderm.136.8.989.
- [37] P. Oyetakinwhite, H. Tribout, and E. Baron, "Protective mechanisms of green tea polyphenols in skin," *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, vol. 2012. Hindawi Limited, 2012, doi: 10.1155/2012/560682.
- [38] Y. Zhu, S. Wang, F. Lin, Q. Li, and A. Xu, "The therapeutic effects of EGCG on vitiligo," *Fitoterapia*, vol. 99, no. 1, pp. 243–251, Dec. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.fitote.2014.08.007.
- [39] Y. J. Kim, H. J. Cha, K. H. Nam, Y. Yoon, H. Lee, and S. An, "Centella asiatica extracts modulate hydrogen peroxide-induced senescence in human dermal fibroblasts," *Exp. Dermatol.*, vol. 20, no. 12, pp. 998–1003, Dec. 2011, doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0625.2011.01388.x.
- [40] N. K. Nema, N. Maity, B. K. Sarkar, and P. K. Mukherjee, "Matrix metalloproteinase, hyaluronidase and elastase inhibitory potential of standardized extract of Centella asiatica," *Pharm. Biol.*, vol. 51, no. 9, pp. 1182–1187, Sep. 2013, doi: 10.3109/13880209.2013.782505.
- [41] A. Ratz-Lyko, J. Arct, and K. Pytkowska, "Moisturizing and antiinflammatory properties of cosmetic formulations containing Centella asiatica extract," *Indian J. Pharm. Sci.*, vol. 78, no. 1, pp. 27–33, Jan. 2016, doi: 10.4103/0250-474X.180247.
- [42] R. C. L. Affonso *et al.*, "Phytochemical Composition, Antioxidant Activity, and the Effect of the Aqueous Extract of Coffee (Coffea arabica L.) Bean Residual Press Cake on the Skin Wound Healing," *Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev.*, vol. 2016, 2016, doi:

10.1155/2016/1923754.

- [43] A. Iriondo-DeHond *et al.*, "Coffee silverskin extract protects against accelerated aging caused by oxidative agents," *Molecules*, vol. 21, no. 6, p. 721, Jun. 2016, doi: 10.3390/molecules21060721.
- [44] P. Y. Wu *et al.*, "Alleviation of ultraviolet B-induced photodamage by Coffea arabica extract in human skin fibroblasts and hairless mouse skin," *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, vol. 18, no. 4, Apr. 2017, doi: 10.3390/ijms18040782.
- [45] G. Park, H. G. Kim, Y. O. Kim, S. H. Park, S. Y. Kim, and M. S. Oh, "Coriandrum sativum L. Protects human keratinocytes from oxidative stress by regulating oxidative defense systems," *Skin Pharmacol. Physiol.*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 93–99, Feb. 2012, doi: 10.1159/000335257.
- [46] E. Hwang, D. G. Lee, S. H. Park, M. S. Oh, and S. Y. Kim, "Coriander leaf extract exerts antioxidant activity and protects against UVB-induced photoaging of skin by regulation of procollagen type i and MMP-1 expression," *J. Med. Food*, vol. 17, no. 9, pp. 985–995, Sep. 2014, doi: 10.1089/jmf.2013.2999.
- [47] H. I. Moon, T. im Kim, H. S. Cho, and E. K. Kim, "Identification of potential and selective collagenase, gelatinase inhibitors from Crataegus pinnatifida," *Bioorganic Med. Chem. Lett.*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 991–993, Feb. 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2009.12.059.
- [48] T. Jurikova *et al.*, "Polyphenolic profile and biological activity of chinese hawthorn (Crataegus pinnatifida BUNGE) fruits," *Molecules*, vol. 17, no. 12. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute (MDPI), pp. 14490–14509, Dec. 2012, doi: 10.3390/molecules171214490.
- [49] S. Liu, L. You, Y. Zhao, and X. Chang, "Hawthorn Polyphenol Extract Inhibits UVB-Induced Skin Photoaging by Regulating MMP Expression and Type i Procollagen Production in Mice," *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, vol. 66, no. 32, pp. 8537–8546, Aug. 2018, doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.8b02785.
- [50] S. Liu, Q. Sui, J. Zou, Y. Zhao, and X. Chang, "Protective effects of hawthorn (Crataegus

pinnatifida) polyphenol extract against UVB-induced skin damage by modulating the p53 mitochondrial pathway in vitro and in vivo," *J. Food Biochem.*, vol. 43, no. 2, Feb. 2019, doi: 10.1111/jfbc.12708.

- [51] D. Perrone *et al.*, "Biological and therapeutic activities, and anticancer properties of curcumin (Review)," *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine*, vol. 10, no. 5. Spandidos Publications, pp. 1615–1623, Nov. 01, 2015, doi: 10.3892/etm.2015.2749.
- [52] Y. Panahi *et al.*, "Evidence of curcumin and curcumin analogue effects in skin diseases: A narrative review," *J. Cell. Physiol.*, vol. 234, no. 2, pp. 1165–1178, Feb. 2019, doi: 10.1002/jcp.27096.
- [53] A. Petrova, L. M. Davids, F. Rautenbach, and J. L. Marnewick, "Photoprotection by honeybush extracts, hesperidin and mangiferin against UVB-induced skin damage in SKH-1 mice," *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B Biol.*, vol. 103, no. 2, pp. 126–139, May 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2011.02.020.
- [54] R. K. Chaudhuri, "Emblica cascading antioxidant: A novel natural skin care ingredient," in *Skin Pharmacology and Applied Skin Physiology*, 2002, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 374–380, doi: 10.1159/000064544.
- [55] B. C. Variya, A. K. Bakrania, and S. S. Patel, "Emblica officinalis (Amla): A review for its phytochemistry, ethnomedicinal uses and medicinal potentials with respect to molecular mechanisms," *Pharmacological Research*, vol. 111. Academic Press, pp. 180– 200, Sep. 01, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2016.06.013.
- [56] P. Chaikul, M. Kanlayavattanakul, J. Somkumnerd, and N. Lourith, "Phyllanthus emblica L. (amla) branch: a safe and effective ingredient against skin aging," *J. Tradit. Complement. Med.*, Feb. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.jtcme.2021.02.004.
- [57] W. He and B. Huang, "A review of chemistry and bioactivities of a medicinal spice: Foeniculum vulgare," *J. Med. Plants Res.*, vol. 5, no. 16, pp. 3595–3600, Aug. 2011, Accessed: Feb. 13, 2021. [Online]. Available: http://www.academicjournals.org/JMPR.
- [58] N. Akhtar et al., "Evaluation of various functional skin parameters using a topical cream

of calendula officinalis extract," *African J. Pharm. Pharmacol.*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 199–206, Feb. 2011, doi: 10.5897/AJMR10.368.

- [59] S. Jadoon *et al.*, "Anti-aging potential of phytoextract loaded-pharmaceutical creams for human skin cell longetivity," *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, vol. 2015. Hindawi Publishing Corporation, 2015, doi: 10.1155/2015/709628.
- [60] M. Gasparrini *et al.*, "Strawberry-based cosmetic formulations protect human dermal fibroblasts against UVA-induced damage," *Nutrients*, vol. 9, no. 6, Jun. 2017, doi: 10.3390/nu9060605.
- [61] J. Couto *et al.*, "Fragaria vesca l. Extract: A promising cosmetic ingredient with antioxidant properties," *Antioxidants*, vol. 9, no. 2, Feb. 2020, doi: 10.3390/antiox9020154.
- [62] T. IZUMI, M. SAITO, A. OBATA, M. ARII, H. YAMAGUCHI, and A. MATSUYAMA,
   "Oral Intake of Soy Isoflavone Aglycone Improves the Aged Skin of Adult Women," *J. Nutr. Sci. Vitaminol. (Tokyo).*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 57–62, Feb. 2007, doi: 10.3177/jnsv.53.57.
- [63] B. R. Zhou *et al.*, "Protective Effects of Soy Oligopeptides in Ultraviolet B-Induced Acute Photodamage of Human Skin," *Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev.*, vol. 2016, 2016, doi: 10.1155/2016/5846865.
- [64] N. Irrera *et al.*, "Dietary Management of Skin Health: The Role of Genistein," *Nutrients*, vol. 9, no. 6, p. 622, Jun. 2017, doi: 10.3390/nu9060622.
- [65] P. K. Mukherjee, R. Biswas, A. Sharma, S. Banerjee, S. Biswas, and C. K. Katiyar,
  "Validation of medicinal herbs for anti-tyrosinase potential," *Journal of Herbal Medicine*,
  vol. 14. Elsevier GmbH, pp. 1–16, Dec. 01, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.hermed.2018.09.002.
- [66] D. J. Kwon, Y. S. Bae, S. M. Ju, A. R. Goh, S. Y. Choi, and J. Park, "Casuarinin suppresses TNF-α-induced ICAM-1 expression via blockade of NF-κB activation in HaCaT cells," *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, vol. 409, no. 4, pp. 780–785, Jun. 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.05.088.

- [67] I. S. Hwang *et al.*, "UV radiation-induced skin aging in hairless mice is effectively prevented by oral intake of sea buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides L.) fruit blend for 6 weeks through MMP suppression and increase of SOD activity," *Int. J. Mol. Med.*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 392–400, Aug. 2012, doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2012.1011.
- [68] B. A. Khan, N. Akhtar, I. Hussain, K. A. Abbas, and A. Rasul, "Whitening efficacy of plant extracts including Hippophae rhamnoides and Cassia fistula extracts on the skin of Asian patients with melasma," *Postep. Dermatologii i Alergol.*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 226– 232, 2013, doi: 10.5114/pdia.2013.37032.
- [69] A. Gęgotek, A. Jastrzab, I. Jarocka-Karpowicz, M. Muszyńska, and E. Skrzydlewska,
   "The effect of sea buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides L.) seed oil on UV-induced changes in lipid metabolism of human skin cells," *Antioxidants*, vol. 7, no. 9, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.3390/antiox7090110.
- [70] J. Zhang, C. Wang, C. Wang, B. Sun, and C. Qi, "Understanding the role of extracts from sea buckthorn seed residues in anti-melanogenesis properties on B16F10 melanoma cells," *Food Funct.*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 5402–5416, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.1039/c8fo01427b.
- [71] Q. Yao, T. Jia, W. Qiao, H. Gu, and K. Kaku, "Unsaturated fatty acid-enriched extract from *Hippophae rhamnoides* seed reduces skin dryness through up-regulating aquaporins 3 and hyaluronan synthetases 2 expressions," *J. Cosmet. Dermatol.*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 321–329, Jan. 2021, doi: 10.1111/jocd.13482.
- [72] D. Bin Myung *et al.*, "Hydrangenol isolated from the leaves of Hydrangea serrata attenuateswrinkle formation and repairs skin moisture in UVB-irradiated hairless mice," *Nutrients*, vol. 11, no. 10, Oct. 2019, doi: 10.3390/nu11102354.
- [73] D. Bin Myung *et al.*, "Oral intake of hydrangea serrata (Thunb.) ser. leaves extract improves wrinkles, hydration, elasticity, texture, and roughness in human skin: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study," *Nutrients*, vol. 12, no. 6, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.3390/nu12061588.
- [74] K. C. Wen *et al.*, "Antioxidant Activity of Ixora parviflora in a Cell/Cell-Free System and in UV-Exposed Human Fibroblasts," *Molecules*, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 5735–5752, Jul. 2011,

doi: 10.3390/molecules16075735.

- [75] K. C. Wen, P. C. Fan, S. Y. Tsai, I. C. Shih, and H. M. Chiang, "Ixora parviflora protects against UVB-induced photoaging by inhibiting the expression of MMPs, MAP kinases, and COX-2 and by promoting type i procollagen synthesis," *Evidence-based Complement. Altern. Med.*, vol. 2012, 2012, doi: 10.1155/2012/417346.
- [76] M. Telang, S. Dhulap, A. Mandhare, and R. Hirwani, "Therapeutic and cosmetic applications of mangiferin: A patent review," *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Patents*, vol. 23, no. 12. Expert Opin Ther Pat, pp. 1561–1580, Dec. 2013, doi: 10.1517/13543776.2013.836182.
- [77] J. H. Song *et al.*, "Protective effect of mango (*M angifera indica* L.) against UVB-induced skin aging in hairless mice," *Photodermatol. Photoimmunol. Photomed.*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 84–89, Apr. 2013, doi: 10.1111/phpp.12030.
- [78] C. Ronpirin, N. Pattarachotanant, and T. Tencomnao, "Protective effect of Mangifera indica Linn., Cocos nucifera Linn., and Averrhoa carambola Linn. Extracts against ultraviolet B-induced damage in human keratinocytes," *Evidence-based Complement*. *Altern. Med.*, vol. 2016, 2016, doi: 10.1155/2016/1684794.
- [79] R. Ochocka, A. Hering, J. Stefanowicz-Hajduk, K. Cal, and H. Barańska, "The effect of mangiferin on skin: Penetration, permeation and inhibition of ECM enzymes," *PLoS One*, vol. 12, no. 7, Jul. 2017, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0181542.
- [80] S. H. Park, Y. S. Yi, M. Y. Kim, and J. Y. Cho, "Antioxidative and Antimelanogenesis Effect of Momordica charantia Methanol Extract," *Evidence-based Complement. Altern. Med.*, vol. 2019, 2019, doi: 10.1155/2019/5091534.
- [81] H. X. Li *et al.*, "Identification of anti-melanogenesis constituents from morus alba L. Leaves," *Molecules*, vol. 23, no. 10, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.3390/molecules23102559.
- [82] Y. Cho, K. H. Kim, J. S. Shim, and J. K. Hwang, "Inhibitory effects of macelignan isolated from Myristica fragrans Houtt. on melanin biosynthesis," *Biol. Pharm. Bull.*, vol. 31, no. 5, pp. 986–989, May 2008, doi: 10.1248/bpb.31.986.

- [83] Anggakusuma, Yanti, and J. K. Hwang, "Effects of macelignan isolated from Myristica fragrans Houtt. on UVB-induced matrix metalloproteinase-9 and cyclooxygenase-2 in HaCaT cells," *J. Dermatol. Sci.*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 114–122, Feb. 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2009.10.005.
- [84] A. Faur *et al.*, "Correlations on Phenolic Screening Related to in Vitro and in Ovo Assessment of Ocimum basilicum L. Hydro-Alcoholic Extracts Used as Skin Active Ingredient," *Molecules*, vol. 25, no. 22, p. 5442, Nov. 2020, doi: 10.3390/molecules25225442.
- [85] M. Yoshikawa, Y. Okano, and H. Masaki, "An ocimum basilicum extract containing rosmarinic acid restores the disruption of collagen fibers caused by repetitive uva irradiation of dermal fibroblasts," *J. Oleo Sci.*, vol. 69, no. 11, pp. 1487–1495, 2020, doi: 10.5650/jos.ess20129.
- [86] T. H. Kang *et al.*, "Effects of red ginseng extract on UVB irradiation-induced skin aging in hairless mice," *J. Ethnopharmacol.*, vol. 123, no. 3, pp. 446–451, Jun. 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2009.03.022.
- [87] H. J. Lee *et al.*, "Photoprotective effect of red ginseng against ultraviolet radiationinduced chronic skin damage in the hairless mouse," *Phyther. Res.*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 399–403, Mar. 2009, doi: 10.1002/ptr.2640.
- [88] Z. Jiménez *et al.*, "Assessment of radical scavenging, whitening and moisture retention activities of Panax ginseng berry mediated gold nanoparticles as safe and efficient novel cosmetic material," *Artif. Cells, Nanomedicine Biotechnol.*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 333–340, Feb. 2018, doi: 10.1080/21691401.2017.1307216.
- [89] J. Liu, X. Xu, R. Jiang, L. Sun, and D. Zhao, "Vanillic acid in Panax ginseng root extract inhibits melanogenesis in B16F10 cells via inhibition of the NO/PKG signaling pathway," *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.*, vol. 83, no. 7, pp. 1205–1215, 2019, doi: 10.1080/09168451.2019.1606694.
- [90] E. Saba *et al.*, "Korean Red Ginseng extract ameliorates melanogenesis in humans and induces antiphotoaging effects in ultraviolet B–irradiated hairless mice," *J. Ginseng Res.*,

vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 496–505, May 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jgr.2019.05.003.

- [91] D. Jeong *et al.*, "Anti-Melanogenic Effects of Ethanol Extracts of the Leaves and Roots of Patrinia villosa (Thunb.) Juss through Their Inhibition of CREB and Induction of ERK and Autophagy," *Molecules*, vol. 25, no. 22, Nov. 2020, doi: 10.3390/molecules25225375.
- [92] D. Jeong *et al.*, "Antiphotoaging and antimelanogenic effects of penthorum chinense pursh ethanol extract due to antioxidant- And autophagy-inducing properties," *Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev.*, vol. 2019, 2019, doi: 10.1155/2019/9679731.
- [93] C. Parrado, M. Mascaraque, Y. Gilaberte, A. Juarranz, and S. Gonzalez, "Fernblock (Polypodium leucotomos extract): Molecular mechanisms and pleiotropic effects in lightrelated skin conditions, photoaging and skin cancers, a review," *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. 17, no. 7. MDPI AG, Jul. 01, 2016, doi: 10.3390/ijms17071026.
- [94] E. Turrini, L. Ferruzzi, and C. Fimognari, "Potential effects of pomegranate polyphenols in cancer prevention and therapy," *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, vol. 2015. Hindawi Publishing Corporation, 2015, doi: 10.1155/2015/938475.
- [95] S. M. Henning *et al.*, "Pomegranate Juice and Extract Consumption Increases the Resistance to UVB-induced Erythema and Changes the Skin Microbiome in Healthy Women: a Randomized Controlled Trial," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1–11, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-50926-2.
- [96] S. A. Gabr and A. H. Alghadir, "Evaluation of the Biological Effects of Lyophilized Hydrophilic Extract of Rhus coriaria on Myeloperoxidase (MPO) Activity, Wound Healing, and Microbial Infections of Skin Wound Tissues," *Evidence-based Complement*. *Altern. Med.*, vol. 2019, 2019, doi: 10.1155/2019/5861537.
- [97] E. Nozza *et al.*, "Rhus coriaria l. Fruit extract prevents UV-A-induced genotoxicity and oxidative injury in human microvascular endothelial cells," *Antioxidants*, vol. 9, no. 4, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.3390/antiox9040292.
- [98] S. K. Katiyar, N. J. Korman, H. Mukhtar, and R. Agarwal, "Protective effects of silymarin against photocarcinogenesis in a mouse skin model," *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.*, vol. 89, no. 8,

pp. 556–566, Apr. 1997, doi: 10.1093/jnci/89.8.556.

- [99] G. Mallikarjuna, S. Dhanalakshmi, R. P. Singh, C. Agarwal, and R. Agarwal, "Silibinin protects against photocarcinogenesis via modulation of cell cycle regulators, mitogenactivated protein kinases, and Akt signaling," *Cancer Res.*, vol. 64, no. 17, pp. 6349– 6356, Sep. 2004, doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1632.
- [100] R. P. Singh and R. Agarwal, "Cosmeceuticals and silibinin," *Clin. Dermatol.*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 479–484, Sep. 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.clindermatol.2009.05.012.
- [101] M. H. Lee, Y. P. Lin, F. L. Hsu, G. R. Zhan, and K. Y. Yen, "Bioactive constituents of Spatholobus suberectus in regulating tyrosinase-related proteins and mRNA in HEMn cells," *Phytochemistry*, vol. 67, no. 12, pp. 1262–1270, Jun. 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.phytochem.2006.05.008.
- [102] K. R. Kwon, M. B. Alam, J. H. Park, T. H. Kim, and S. H. Lee, "Attenuation of UVBinduced photo-aging by polyphenolic-rich spatholobus suberectus stem extract via modulation of MAPK/AP-1/MMPs signaling in human keratinocytes," *Nutrients*, vol. 11, no. 6, Jun. 2019, doi: 10.3390/nu11061341.
- [103] H. M. Chiang, K. C. Wen, I. C. Shih, J. C. Hu, S. T. Liao, and T. W. Su, "Inhibitory effects of Terminalia catappa on UVB-induced photodamage in fibroblast cell line," *Evidence-based Complement. Altern. Med.*, vol. 2011, 2011, doi: 10.1155/2011/904532.
- [104] O. O. Abiodun *et al.*, "Antiinflammatory and immunomodulatory activity of an ethanolic extract from the stem bark of Terminalia catappa L. (Combretaceae): In vitro and in vivo evidences," *J. Ethnopharmacol.*, vol. 192, pp. 309–319, Nov. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2016.07.056.
- [105] Y. H. Huang, P. Y. Wu, K. C. Wen, C. Y. Lin, and H. M. Chiang, "Protective effects and mechanisms of Terminalia catappa L. methenolic extract on hydrogen-peroxide-induced oxidative stress in human skin fibroblasts," *BMC Complement. Altern. Med.*, vol. 18, no. 1, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.1186/s12906-018-2308-4.
- [106] G. Scapagnini et al., "Cocoa bioactive compounds: Significance and potential for the

maintenance of skin health," *Nutrients*, vol. 6, no. 8. MDPI AG, pp. 3202–3213, Aug. 11, 2014, doi: 10.3390/nu6083202.

- [107] I. Khan *et al.*, "Micropropagation and production of health promoting lignans in linum usitatissimum," *Plants*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 1–18, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.3390/plants9060728.
- [108] T. Khan, M. A. Khan, K. Karam, N. Ullah, Z. U. R. Mashwani, and A. Nadhman, "Plant in vitro Culture Technologies; A Promise Into Factories of Secondary Metabolites Against COVID-19," *Frontiers in Plant Science*, vol. 12. Frontiers Media S.A., p. 610194, Mar. 12, 2021, doi: 10.3389/fpls.2021.610194.
- [109] C. A. Espinosa-Leal, C. A. Puente-Garza, and S. García-Lara, "In vitro plant tissue culture: means for production of biological active compounds," *Planta*, vol. 248, no. 1. Springer Verlag, p. 1, Jul. 01, 2018, doi: 10.1007/s00425-018-2910-1.
- [110] A. M. Shohael, M. B. Ali, K. W. Yu, E. J. Hahn, and K. Y. Paek, "Effect of temperature on secondary metabolites production and antioxidant enzyme activities in Eleutherococcus senticosus somatic embryos," *Plant Cell. Tissue Organ Cult.*, vol. 85, no. 2, pp. 219–228, May 2006, doi: 10.1007/s11240-005-9075-x.
- [111] N. Joshi, "Influence of Light and Temperature on Secondary Metabolite Accumulation in Callus Cultures of Helicteres Isora L." Accessed: May 25, 2021. [Online]. Available: www.iosrjournals.org.
- [112] A. Ramakrishna and G. A. Ravishankar, "Influence of abiotic stress signals on secondary metabolites in plants," *Plant Signaling and Behavior*, vol. 6, no. 11. Taylor & Francis, pp. 1720–1731, Nov. 2011, doi: 10.4161/psb.6.11.17613.
- [113] N. S. Muchate, N. S. Rajurkar, P. Suprasanna, and T. D. Nikam, "NaCl induced salt adaptive changes and enhanced accumulation of 20-hydroxyecdysone in the in vitro shoot cultures of Spinacia oleracea (L.)," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1–10, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-48737-6.
- [114] R. Radhakrishnan, T. Leelapriya, and B. D. R. Kumari, "Effects of pulsed magnetic field treatment of soybean seeds on calli growth, cell damage, and biochemical changes under

salt stress," *Bioelectromagnetics*, vol. 33, no. 8, pp. 670–681, Dec. 2012, doi: 10.1002/bem.21735.

- [115] A. K. Parida and A. B. Das, "Salt tolerance and salinity effects on plants: A review," *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 324–349, 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2004.06.010.
- [116] T. Isah, "Stress and defense responses in plant secondary metabolites production," *Biological research*, vol. 52, no. 1. NLM (Medline), p. 39, Jul. 29, 2019, doi: 10.1186/s40659-019-0246-3.
- [117] I. Smetanska, "Sustainable Production of Polyphenols and Antioxidants by Plant In Vitro Cultures," in *Reference Series in Phytochemistry*, Springer Science and Business Media B.V., 2018, pp. 225–269.
- [118] C. B. Do and F. Cormier, "Accumulation of anthocyanins enhanced by a high osmotic potential in grape (Vitis vinifera L.) cell suspensions," *Plant Cell Rep.*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 143–146, Jul. 1990, doi: 10.1007/BF00232091.
- [119] R. C. N. Pedroso *et al.*, "Impact of light quality on flavonoid production and growth of hyptis marrubioides seedlings cultivated in vitro," *Rev. Bras. Farmacogn.*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 466–470, Jul. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.bjp.2016.12.004.
- [120] M. Ali and B. H. Abbasi, "Light-induced fluctuations in biomass accumulation, secondary metabolites production and antioxidant activity in cell suspension cultures of Artemisia absinthium L.," *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B Biol.*, vol. 140, pp. 223–227, Nov. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2014.08.008.
- [121] P. Anasori and G. Asghari, "Effects of light and differentiation on gingerol and zingiberene production in cultured cells of Zingiber officinale," *Planta Med.*, vol. 75, no. 09, p. PJ34, Jul. 2009, doi: 10.1055/s-0029-1234839.
- [122] S. K. Verma, G. Sahin, A. K. Das, and E. Gurel, "In vitro plant regeneration of Ocimum basilicum L. is accelerated by zinc sulfate," *Vitr. Cell. Dev. Biol. - Plant*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 20–27, Feb. 2016, doi: 10.1007/s11627-015-9739-0.

- [123] A. Lavola, "Accumulation of flavonoids and related compounds in birch induced by UV-B irradiance," *Tree Physiol.*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 53–58, 1998, doi: 10.1093/treephys/18.1.53.
- [124] L. B. D. S. Nascimento *et al.*, "Ultraviolet-B radiation effects on phenolic profile and flavonoid content of Kalanchoe pinnata," *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B Biol.*, vol. 148, pp. 73–81, Jul. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2015.03.011.
- [125] M. A. Hossain, S. Kim, K. H. Kim, S. J. Lee, and H. Lee, "Flavonoid compounds are enriched in Lemon balm (Melissa officinalis) leaves by a high level of sucrose and confer increased antioxidant activity," *HortScience*, vol. 44, no. 7, pp. 1907–1913, Dec. 2009, doi: 10.21273/hortsci.44.7.1907.
- [126] M. I. Dias, M. J. Sousa, R. C. Alves, and I. C. F. R. Ferreira, "Exploring plant tissue culture to improve the production of phenolic compounds: A review."
- [127] A. Aires, "Phenolics in Foods: Extraction, Analysis and Measurements," in *Phenolic Compounds Natural Sources, Importance and Applications*, InTech, 2017.
- [128] S. Chandra *et al.*, "Assessment of total phenolic and flavonoid content, antioxidant properties, and yield of aeroponically and conventionally grown leafy vegetables and fruit crops: A comparative study," *Evidence-based Complement. Altern. Med.*, vol. 2014, 2014, doi: 10.1155/2014/253875.
- [129] K. Tzima, N. P. Brunton, and D. K. Rai, "Qualitative and quantitative analysis of polyphenols in lamiaceae plants—a review," *Plants*, vol. 7, no. 2. MDPI AG, p. 25, Jun. 01, 2018, doi: 10.3390/plants7020025.
- [130] M. A. S. Coutinho *et al.*, "Wound healing cream formulated with Kalanchoe pinnata major flavonoid is as effective as the aqueous leaf extract cream in a rat model of excisional wound," *Nat. Prod. Res.*, 2020, doi: 10.1080/14786419.2020.1817012.
- [131] L. B. S. Nascimento *et al.*, "Increased antioxidant activity and changes in phenolic profile of kalanchoe pinnata (Lamarck) persoon (crassulaceae) specimens grown under supplemental blue light," *Photochem. Photobiol.*, vol. 89, no. 2, pp. 391–399, Mar. 2013,

doi: 10.1111/php.12006.